IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

LAWRENCE D. MCDOUGALD,

Petitioner,

v.

HENRY D. PERRY, C & S CHEMICALS, INC., a foreign corporation,

Respondents.

CASE NO.: 91, 595

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

HANK B. CAMPBELL
Florida Bar No. 434515
LANE, TROHN, BERTRAND & VREELAND, P.A.
P. O. Box 3
One Lake Morton Drive
Lakeland, FL 33802-0003
(941) 284-2200
Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner/Appellee/Plaintiff below, LAWRENCE D. MCDOUGALD (hereinafter "MCDOUGALD"), seeks to obtain this Court's discretionary review of a July 30, 1997, opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal. A.1.¹ That opinion reversed a \$250,000.00 jury verdict in favor of MCDOUGALD, in part due to the Trial Court's instruction to the jury on the issue of *res ipsa loquitur*. In addition, the Second District remanded the case with directions that the Trial Court direct a verdict on the issue of negligence in favor of Respondents/Appellants/Defendants below, HENRY D. PERRY (hereinafter "PERRY") and C & S CHEMICALS, INC. (hereinafter "C&S").

At the time of the accident, PERRY was operating a C&S tractor-trailer on a four-lane highway west of Bartow, Polk County, Florida. MCDOUGALD was following the tractor-trailer in his personal vehicle. When PERRY drove over a familiar set of rough railroad tracks, the trailer's spare tire was ejected from its rack underneath the trailer, run over by the trailer, and tossed into the air and then into MCDOUGALD's vehicle. The spare tire weighed approximately 130 pounds and was cradled in a rack at approximately a 45° angle with a safety chain purportedly securing the tire to the rack. As MCDOUGALD attempted to avoid the impact, he lost control of his vehicle, his foot caught under the accelerator, brake or dash, and his knee was injured. MCDOUGALD'S treating physicians testified that as a result of the accident, MCDOUGALD'S knee was damaged such as to necessitate three arthroscopic procedures prior to trial and multiple future knee replacements, amounting to \$50,000.00 in future medicals awarded by the jury.

Prior to trial, C&S conceded its responsibility for maintenance of the subject tractor-trailer. The trailer was a 1969 model, and the four to six foot safety chain looked to be the original twenty-

¹All references to the Appendix will be indicated by the symbol "A." followed by the appropriate number from the Appendix.

plus year old dog chain with one-inch links that came with the trailer when it was first purchased, according to PERRY. PERRY testified that the chain was originally secured to the rack by a latch, however, at the time of the accident, the latch "was gone," and the chain had been re-secured prior to the accident with a one-half inch nut and bolt.

PERRY testified at trial that he inspected the tractor-trailer on the morning of the accident. However, while he looked at the spare tire and the safety chain that was supposed to secure it, he did not inspect the chain close enough to determine whether the stretched condition of the attached chain link which at some point came unfastened existed prior to his inspection. Thus, while PERRY was certain that the chain was on the tire when he inspected it, he was not sure whether the link through which the bolt head or nut slipped was stretched prior to his inspection or not. After the accident, PERRY examined the chain, one end of which was still connected to the trailer, and discovered that the nut or bolt head had slipped through a stretched link of one end of the safety chain. Some time prior to the accident, one of the two links of the chain secured by the nut and bolt had stretched, and the nut or bolt head chosen to replace the latch was too small, thus allowing the chain to work its way loose without having to actually break.

The corporate representative for C&S, Roy Beverly, testified that there is no stress placed on the safety chain such as to cause it to stretch or break during normal driving and that he had never heard of a spare tire coming out of its rack, safety chain or not. He further testified that the accident scenario in this case was unbelievable given that the spare tire is actually held in the rack by gravity and the approximately 45° angle of the rack, such that it is difficult to even pull the tire out of its rack.

Unfortunately, further inspection of the safety chain was not possible after suit was filed given the fact that neither PERRY nor C&S produced it during discovery despite MCDOUGALD'S formal Request to Produce. In fact, one of the more blatant misstatements of the Record and the facts of

this case in the opinion below occurred in Footnote 1, where, in an apparent attempt at distinguishing the clearly conflicting decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Cheung v. Ryder Truck Rental*, 595 So.2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), the Second District stated in complete disregard of the Record and the facts that "(t)he original chain was not kept because no one realized that McDougald was injured in the accident... Perry and C&S learned of McDougald's injury when McDougald filed his complaint, four years after the accident." The record fails to bear out Footnote 1 no matter what light it is viewed in, and the actual facts belie such an assertion. In actuality, C&S and its representatives were aware of Plaintiff's initial claim of some injury within a week of the accident, and Roy Beverly testified at trial when asked, "(w)here is that chain today?" that "(i)t's probably on the trailer today." The failure to produce the chain, among substantial other repair and maintenance records, was, according to the testimony at trial, apparently too bothersome and Respondents' Response to the Request was to deny their existence or availability.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT'S HOLDING THAT IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE DOCTRINE OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN TAMIAMI TRAIL TOURS, INC., V. LOCKE, 75 So.2d 856 (FLA. 1954), AND YARBROUGH V. BALL U-DRIVE SYSTEM, INC., 48 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 1950), AS WELL AS THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN CHEUNG V. RYDER TRUCK RENTAL, 595 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

The Second District's opinion creates express and direct decisional conflict within the meaning of Article V, \$III(b)(3), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(IV), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, as to two issues. The first conflicting holding was that it was reversible error

for the Trial Court to instruct the jury on the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. The decisions of this Court in *Tamiami Trail Tours, Inc., v. Locke,* 75 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1954), and *Yarbrough v. Ball U-Drive System, Inc.*, 48 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1950), as well as the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Cheung v. Ryder Truck Rental*, 595 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), are diametrically opposed, both as to the law and the facts, to the Second District's opinion.

In *Cheung* in particular, the facts are so strikingly similar to this case and the conflict is so apparent that the cases appear to be virtual mirror images of each other except for the results. Both are "wheel off" cases logically giving rise to the classic and appropriate use of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. In *Cheung*, the left rear wheel of a car being towed behind a rented Ryder Truck detached from its axle and struck a vehicle traveling in the opposite direction. The defendant driver and owner moved for summary judgment and the trial court granted their motions on all counts. One of the counts was for "unspecified negligence under the theory of *res ipsa loquitur*."

The Fifth District affirmed the trial court except as to the *res ipsa loquitur* count against the driver, specifically stating that "we find that *res ipsa loquitur* is particularly applicable in wayward wheel cases." *Id.* at 83 (emphasis added). Sometime after the accident, the driver abandoned the car and it was thus unavailable to the parties for an exact determination of the reason for the wheel's detachment. The Fifth District stated that "[r]es ipsa loquitur seems particularly appropriate in a case in which the defendant has disposed of the relevant evidence...." *Id.* at 84, fn.2. The case at bar is strikingly similar to and patently in conflict with the *Cheung* case.

Footnote 1 of the opinion below appears to be an attempt at distinguishing *Cheung* from the instant case, although neither party nor the Court below cited *Cheung*. However, as pointed out in the Statement of the Case and Facts, the factual foundation for Footnote 1 not only fails to view the evidence in a light most favorable to MCDOUGALD as required, but actually ignores the Record and

the facts by stating that "(t)he original chain was not kept because no one realized that McDougald was injured in the accident." In actuality, the testimony of C&S' corporate representative, Roy Beverly, was that the chain very well could have been still on the trailer as of the time of trial, despite Respondents' denial during discovery of its existence. Furthermore, the testimony at trial was that MCDOUGALD, within a week of the accident, told an investigator from C&S that he had some tenderness to the outside of his knee (the "no big thing" in Footnote 1 is also not, as implied, attributable to MCDOUGALD, but rather was a quote of Respondents' counsel). There is no evidence, contrary to Footnote 1, that "C&S learned of McDougald's injury when McDougald filed his complaint, four years after the accident...", and the facts belie such an assertion.

The court in *Cheung* cited with approval three out-of-state decisions. Neither case is distinguishable from the instant case except by result. In *Dearth v. Self*, 220 N.E.2d 728 (Oh. App. 1966), the court concluded that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* was appropriate for a determination of "whether the circumstances were such as to justify a finding that the casting of a wheel from the tractor-trailer into the opposite lane of traffic was the result of defendants' negligence in the maintenance and care of the tractor-trailer equipment." In *Guerra v. W. J. Young Construction Co., Inc.*, 165 So.2d 882 (La. App. 1964), the court held that wheel detachment cases were particularly appropriate for the application of the *res ipsa loquitur* doctrine and that defendants "were thus charged with the burden of exculpating themselves, of exonerating themselves from the inference of negligence arising from the happening itself." *Id.* at 885.

Likewise, the court in Ross v. Tynes, 14 So.2d 80 (La. App. 1943), held:

In our opinion the facts of this case, which are not in dispute, present a classic example of the proper application of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. Plaintiff was killed while walking on the sidewalk by a double wheel which became detached from a passing truck. It follows that there is an inference, or presumption of negligence on the part of defendants. In other words, when an injury is caused by an instrumentality

under the exclusive control of the defendant, as in this case, and it is such as would not ordinarily happen that the party having control of the instrumentality had used proper care, there arises an inference or presumption of negligence.

Id. at 81.

This Court has likewise recognized the appropriateness of an instruction on *res ipsa loquitur* in cases similar in nature to the instant case. Thus, in *Yarbrough, supra*, it was held, in reversing a directed verdict in favor of the defendant, that where a drive shaft became detached from a rented truck, a *res ipsa loquitur* instruction should be given. Similarly, this Court determined in *Tamiami Trail, supra*, that where a trailer became uncoupled from its tractor resulting in an accident, the *res ipsa* doctrine was applicable and the trial court's decision not to apply same was error. As stated by this Court, "(c)ertainly the plaintiff's driver in this case, just as in the *Yarbrough* case, had 'a right to believe that the vehicle (would) not fall apart in the middle of the road'."

As quoted in Justice Holt's concurring opinion in *Tamiami Trail*, "(a) case of *res ipsa loquitur* is no exception to these familiar rules. It is the plaintiff's task to make out a case from which, on the basis of experience, the jury may draw the conclusion that negligence is the most likely explanation of the accident. That conclusion is not for the court to draw, or to refuse to draw so long as there is enough to permit the jury to draw it; and even though the court would not itself infer negligence, it must still leave the question to jury where reasonable men may differ as to the balance of probabilities." *Id.* at 590.

A *res ipsa loquitur* instruction was appropriately given by the Trial Court. The jury concluded, based on the evidence presented, that Respondents were negligent, and a review of the District Court's reversal of that jury determination is not only warranted but necessitated in order to provide for uniformity of the case law of this State regarding *res ipsa loquitur*.

II. THE SECOND DISTRICT'S REMAND WITH INSTRUCTIONS THAT THE TRIAL COURT DIRECT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENTS ON THE ISSUE OF NEGLIGENCE DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH A LONG LINE OF DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

The opinion below has also created conflict in light of the Second District's remand for directed verdicts as to Respondents' negligence. Conflict, in light of the evidence of negligence adduced at trial, exists between the decision below and a number of decisions of this Court as well as the District Courts where it has previously been consistently held that there must be neither any evidence nor inference of negligence, when viewed in a light most favorable to the non-movant, before the grant of a directed verdict is appropriate.

The Second District's opinion in *Legg v. Super Saver Warehouse Club, Inc.*, 622 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), exemplifies this second basis for conflict jurisdiction. In *Legg*, a customer placed twelve metal chairs on a cart in two stacks of six chairs each. When the customer reached the cashier's station, an employee transferred the chairs to a similar cart. The employee did not secure the chairs after transferring them, and when the customer attempted to push the cart through the exit doors, the front wheels hit the "doorsill," the cart stopped, and the front stack of chairs slid forward and fell onto a bystander, Mrs. Legg, as she was walking past the exit doors outside the store. The Leggs sued the store and the customer pushing the cart. *Id.* at 168.

At trial, the store's general manager testified that she examined the door sill after the accident and found nothing out of the ordinary. She also testified that it was customary for employees to transfer customer's merchandise from their cart to another when they reached the cashier's station for purposes of carrying the merchandise from the checkout area to the parking lot, that the store's employees are taught to use additional carts when a load is too large for one cart, and that the store's

employees are not trained to secure merchandise to a single cart. At the close of the Leggs' case, the trial court granted the customer a directed verdict. On appeal, however, the Second District declared that this was error and stated that "[t]he evidence the Leggs presented is sufficient to create a jury question as to [the customer's] ... negligence, if any." *Id.* at 169.

In *Cadore v. Karp*, 91 So. 2d 806 (Fla. 1957), this Court stated that in granting a motion for directed verdict, the court must determine that there is "no evidence" to support a jury finding for the party against whom the verdict is sought. If the evidence is conflicting, or capable of different reasonable inferences, and if there is some evidence tending to prove the disputed issue, it should be submitted to the jury as a question of fact, and not taken from them and decided by the court as a question of law. *Id.* at 807. Furthermore, in *Bruce Construction Corp. v. The State Exchange Bank*, 102 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 1958), this Court stated that "[i]t is true that the testimony and evidence in this cause is not conflicting but this fact does not mean that it does not permit different reasonable inferences which would justify a judgment for either party to be drawn therefrom." *Id.* at 291. Thus, even where the bulk of the evidence is not conflicting, it is improper for the court to direct a verdict where there is evidence subject to different but reasonable inferences.

In the case at bar, MCDOUGALD arguably presented substantially more evidence of negligence than the Leggs. Specifically, there is evidence in the record that:

- (A) C&S conceded its responsibility for maintenance of the trailer;
- (B) the subject safety chain was apparently more than twenty years old;
- (C) the original latch securing the subject chain was missing;
- (D) the latch was replaced by C&S with a nut and bolt rather than another latch;
- (E) the subject safety chain never broke, but at some point stretched, allowing a link to slip over either the nut or bolt head, thus establishing that the replacement bolt head

- or nut selected by C&S was too small to properly secure the chain;
- (F) PERRY's inspection on the date of the accident of the chain, other than to determine that it remained in place, did not reveal whether it had already stretched or not at the time of inspection;
- (G) the corporate representative for C&S testified that there is no stress placed on the safety chain during normal driving, that he had never heard of a spare tire coming out of its rack, that such a scenario was unbelievable, and that the spare tire is actually held in the rack by gravity at virtually a 45° angle such that it is difficult to even pull it out regardless of the safety chain; and
- (H) the spare tire was thrown from its rack when PERRY drove over rough railroad tracks that he was familiar with from driving over them on a daily basis.

Thus, MCDOUGALD would respectfully submit that there were sufficient facts in evidence to support the jury's finding that Respondents were negligent, despite the inability to introduce direct evidence of the specific cause of the accident, in that Respondents were responsible for the maintenance and inspection of the twenty-plus year old trailer and safety chain, the original latch of which had broken and had been replaced by a too small nut and bolt which allowed the stretched (without discovery) chain to disattach itself, resulting in the spare tire's unbelievable defiance of gravity in being ejected while the trailer was being driven over rough railroad tracks. When viewed in a light with all inferences being drawn most favorable to MCDOUGALD, conflicting conclusions or inferences as to Respondents' negligence could be drawn from the above facts, thus precluding a directed verdict. In fact, while not requested at trial in light of the granted *res ipsa loquitur* instruction, the above facts and circumstances provide a sufficient factual basis for the jury being instructed, pursuant to Florida Standard Jury Instruction 4.11, that Respondents' violation of Florida

Statutes §§ 316.520, 316.525, and 316.610, could be considered prima facie evidence of negligence, likewise precluding a directed verdict.

In the case at bar, the evidence is clearly capable of different reasonable inferences and the jury determined, based on the evidence, that Respondents were in fact negligent. As succinctly held by the Second District in *Reed v. Bowen*, 503 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986),

"(a) motion for directed verdict should not be granted unless the court concludes that the evidence and all inferences of fact, construed most strictly in favor of the non-moving party, cannot support in the minds of the jurors any reasonable difference as to any material fact or inference. The fact that circumstantial evidence is relied upon does not alter the rule that it is solely within the province of the jury to evaluate or weigh the evidence.

Id. at 1266 (citations omitted). The Second District's opinion that the trial court erred by denying Respondents' Motion for Directed Verdict on the issue of negligence is clearly contrary to and conflicting with the long line of directed verdict cases of this and the District Courts of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

In order to fulfill the spirit and purpose of Article V, §III(b)(3), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(IV), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, of providing for the uniformity of the laws of the State of Florida as announced by this and the District Courts, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in order to reconcile the above-noted contradictory opinions.