IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

LAWRENCE D. MCDOUGALD,

Petitioner,

v.

HENRY D. PERRY, C & S CHEMICALS, INC., a foreign corporation,

Respondents.

CASE NO.: 91, 595

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC. J 1 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S AMENDED BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

HANK B. CAMPBELL Florida Bar No. 434515 LANE, TROHN, BERTRAND & VREELAND, P.A. P. O. Box 3 One Lake Morton Drive Lakeland, FL 33802-0003 (941) 284-2200 Attorneys for Petitioner

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District's reversal of the judgment below because of the purported erroneous instruction of the jury on the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of this Court in *Tamiami Trail Tours, Inc., v. Locke*, 75 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1954), and *Yarbrough v. Ball U-Drive System, Inc.*, 48 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1950), as well as the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Cheung v. Ryder Truck Rental*, 595 so.2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). In particular, the facts in *Cheung* are strikingly similar to this case, thus making both the conflict and the necessity of this Court's exercise of its discretion in order to reconcile that conflict more apparent.

The Second District's remand for the entry of directed verdicts as to Respondents' negligence likewise has created conflict given the substantial evidence of negligence adduced at trial and the principle that there must be neither any evidence nor inference of negligence, when viewed in a light most favorable to a non-movant, before the grant of a directed verdict is appropriate.

3

ARGUMENT

I. THE SECOND DISTRICT'S HOLDING THAT IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE DOCTRINE OF RES IPSA LOQUITUR DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN *TAMIAMI TRAIL TOURS, INC., V. LOCKE,* 75 So.2d 856 (FLA. 1954), AND *YARBROUGH V. BALL U-DRIVE SYSTEM, INC.,* 48 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 1950), AS WELL AS THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN CHEUNG V. *RYDER TRUCK RENTAL,* 595 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

The Second District's opinion creates express and direct decisional conflict within the meaning of Article V, §III(b)(3), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(IV), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, as to two issues. The first conflicting holding was that it was reversible error for the Trial Court to instruct the jury on the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. The decisions of this Court in *Tamiami Trail Tours, Inc., v. Locke,* 75 So.2d 856 (Fla. 1954), and *Yarbrough v. Ball U-Drive System, Inc.,* 48 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1950), as well as the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in *Cheung v. Ryder Truck Rental,* 595 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), are diametrically opposed, both as to the law and the facts, to the Second District's opinion.

In *Cheung* in particular, the facts are so strikingly similar to this case and the conflict is so apparent that the cases appear to be virtual mirror images of each other except for the results. Both are "wheel off" cases logically giving rise to the classic and appropriate use of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. In *Cheung*, the left rear wheel of a car being towed behind a rented Ryder Truck detached from its axle and struck a vehicle traveling in the opposite direction. The defendant driver and owner moved for summary judgment and the trial court granted their motions on all counts. One of the counts was for "unspecified negligence under the theory of *res ipsa loquitur*."

The Fifth District affirmed the trial court except as to the *res ipsa loquitur* count against the driver, specifically stating that "we find that <u>res ipsa loquitur</u> is <u>particularly applicable in</u>

wayward wheel cases." *Id.* at 83 (emphasis added). Sometime after the accident, the driver abandoned the car and it was thus unavailable to the parties for an exact determination of the reason for the wheel's detachment. The Fifth District stated that "*[r]es ipsa loquitur* seems particularly appropriate in a case in which the defendant has disposed of the relevant evidence...." *Id.* at 84, fn.2. The case at bar is strikingly similar to and patently in conflict with the *Cheung* case.

Footnote 1 of the opinion below appears to be an attempt at distinguishing *Cheung* from the instant case, although neither party nor the Court below cited *Cheung*. However, as pointed out in the Statement of the Case and Facts, the factual foundation for Footnote 1 not only fails to view the evidence in a light most favorable to MCDOUGALD as required, but actually ignores the Record and the facts by stating that "(t)he original chain was not kept because no one realized that McDougald was injured in the accident." In actuality, the testimony of C&S' corporate representative, Roy Beverly, was that the chain very well could have been still on the trailer as of the time of trial, despite Respondents' denial during discovery of its existence. Furthermore, the testimony at trial was that MCDOUGALD, within a week of the accident, told an investigator from C&S that he had some tenderness to the outside of his knee (the "no big thing" in Footnote 1 is also not, as implied, attributable to MCDOUGALD, but rather was a quote of Respondents' counsel). There is no evidence, contrary to Footnote 1, that "C&S learned of McDougald's injury when McDougald filed his complaint, four years after the accident...", and the facts belie such an assertion.

The court in *Cheung* cited with approval three out-of-state decisions. Neither case is distinguishable from the instant case except by result. In *Dearth v. Self*, 220 N.E.2d 728 (Oh. App. 1966), the court concluded that the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* was appropriate for a determination of "whether the circumstances were such as to justify a finding that the casting of a wheel from the tractor-trailer into the opposite lane of traffic was the result of defendants' negligence in the

maintenance and care of the tractor-trailer equipment." In *Guerra v. W. J. Young Construction Co., Inc.*, 165 So.2d 882 (La. App. 1964), the court held that wheel detachment cases were particularly appropriate for the application of the *res ipsa loquitur* doctrine and that defendants "were thus charged with the burden of exculpating themselves, of exonerating themselves from the inference of negligence arising from the happening itself." *Id.* at 885.

Likewise, the court in Ross v. Tynes, 14 So.2d 80 (La. App. 1943), held:

In our opinion the facts of this case, which are not in dispute, present a classic example of the proper application of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. Plaintiff was killed while walking on the sidewalk by a double wheel which became detached from a passing truck. It follows that there is an inference, or presumption of negligence on the part of defendants. In other words, when an injury is caused by an instrumentality under the exclusive control of the defendant, as in this case, and it is such as would not ordinarily happen that the party having control of the instrumentality had used proper care, there arises an inference or presumption of negligence.

Id. at 81.

This Court has likewise recognized the appropriateness of an instruction on *res ipsa loquitur* in cases similar in nature to the instant case. Thus, in *Yarbrough, supra*, it was held, in reversing a directed verdict in favor of the defendant, that where a drive shaft became detached from a rented truck, a *res ipsa loquitur* instruction should be given. Similarly, this Court determined in *Tamiami Trail, supra*, that where a trailer became uncoupled from its tractor resulting in an accident, the *res ipsa* doctrine was applicable and the trial court's decision not to apply same was error. As stated by this Court, "(c)ertainly the plaintiff's driver in this case, just as in the *Yarbrough* case, had 'a right to believe that the vehicle (would) not fall apart in the middle of the road'."

As stated in Justice Holt's concurring opinion in *Tamiami Trail*:

"(a) case of *res ipsa loquitur* is no exception to these familiar rules. It is the plaintiff's task to make out a case from which, on the basis of experience, the jury may draw the conclusion that negligence is the most likely explanation of the

accident. That conclusion is not for the court to draw, or to refuse to draw so long as there is enough to permit the jury to draw it; and even though the court would not itself infer negligence, it must still leave the question to jury where reasonable men may differ as to the balance of probabilities."

Id. at 590.

A *res ipsa loquitur* instruction was appropriately given by the Trial Court. The jury concluded, based on the evidence presented, that Respondents were negligent, and a review of the District Court's reversal of that jury determination is not only warranted but necessitated in order to provide for uniformity of the case law of this State regarding *res ipsa loquitur*.

II. THE SECOND DISTRICT'S REMAND WITH INSTRUCTIONS THAT THE TRIAL COURT DIRECT A VERDICT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENTS ON THE ISSUE OF NEGLIGENCE DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH A LONG LINE OF DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL,

The opinion below has also created conflict in light of the Second District's remand for directed verdicts as to Respondents' negligence. Conflict, in light of the evidence of negligence adduced at trial, exists between the decision below and a number of decisions of this Court as well as the District Courts where it has previously been consistently held that there must be neither any evidence nor inference of negligence, when viewed in a light most favorable to the non-movant, before the grant of a directed verdict is appropriate.

The Second District's opinion in *Legg v. Super Saver Warehouse Club, Inc., 622 So.* 2d 167 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), exemplifies this second basis for conflict jurisdiction. In *Legg*, a customer placed twelve metal chairs on a cart in two stacks of six chairs each. When the customer reached the cashier's station, an employee transferred the chairs to a similar cart. The employee did not secure the chairs **after** transferring them, and when the customer attempted to push the cart through the exit **doors, the front wheels** hit the "doorsill," the cart stopped, and the front stack of chairs slid

forward and fell onto a bystander, Mrs. Legg, as she was walking past the exit doors outside the store. The Leggs sued the store and the customer pushing the cart. *Id.* at 168.

At trial, the store's general manager testified that she examined the door sill after the accident and found nothing out of the ordinary. She also testified that it was customary for employees to transfer customer's merchandise from their cart to another when they reached the cashier's station for purposes of carrying the merchandise from the checkout area to the parking lot, that the store's employees are taught to use additional carts when a load is too large for one cart, and that the store's employees are not trained to secure merchandise to a single cart. At the close of the Leggs' case, the trial court granted the customer a directed verdict. On appeal, however, the Second District declared that this was error and stated that "[t]he evidence the Leggs presented is sufficient to create a jury question as to [the customer's] . . . negligence, if any." *Id.* at 169.

In *Cadore* v. *Karp*, 91 So, 2d 806 (Fla. 1957), this Court stated that in granting a motion for directed verdict, the court must determine that there is "no evidence" to support a jury finding for the party against whom the verdict is sought. If the evidence is conflicting, or capable of different reasonable inferences, and if there is some evidence tending to prove the disputed issue, it should be submitted to the jury as a question of fact, and not taken from them and decided by the court as a question of law. *Id.* at 807. Furthermore, in *Bruce Construction Corp. v. The State Exchange Bank*, 102 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 1958), this Court stated that "[i]t is true that the testimony and evidence in this cause is not conflicting but this fact does not mean that it does not permit different reasonable inferences which would justify a judgment for either party to be drawn therefrom." *Id.* at 291. Thus, even where the bulk of the evidence is not conflicting, it is improper for the court to direct a verdict where there is evidence subject to different but reasonable inferences. In the case at bar, **MCDOUGALD** arguably presented substantially more evidence of negligence than the Leggs.

Specifically, there is evidence in the record that:

- (A) C&S conceded its responsibility for maintenance of the trailer;
- (B) the subject safety chain was apparently more than twenty years old;
- (C) the original latch securing the subject chain was missing;
- (D) the latch was replaced by C&S with a nut and bolt rather than another latch;
- (E) the subject safety chain never broke, but at some point stretched, allowing a link to slip over either the nut or bolt head, thus establishing that the replacement bolt head or nut selected by C&S was too small to properly secure the chain;
- (F) PERRY's inspection on the date of the accident of the chain, other than to determine that it remained in place, did not reveal whether it had already stretched or not at the time of inspection;
- (G) the corporate representative for C&S testified that there is no stress placed on the safety chain during normal driving, that he had never heard of a spare tire coming out of its rack, that such a scenario was unbelievable, and that the spare tire is actually held in the rack by gravity at virtually a 45 ° angle such that it is difficult to even pull it out regardless of the safety chain; and
- (H) the spare tire was thrown from its rack when PERRY drove over rough railroad tracks that he was familiar with from driving over them on a daily basis.

Thus, there were sufficient facts in evidence to support the jury's finding that Respondents were negligent, despite the inability to introduce direct evidence of the specific cause of the accident, in that Respondents were responsible for the maintenance and inspection of the twenty-plus year old trailer and safety chain, the original latch of which had broken and had been replaced by a too small nut and bolt which allowed the stretched (without discovery) chain to disattach itself, resulting in the spare tire's unbelievable defiance of gravity in being ejected while the trailer was being driven over rough railroad tracks. When viewed in a light with all inferences being drawn most favorable to MCDOUGALD, conflicting conclusions or inferences as to Respondents' negligence could be drawn from the above facts, thus precluding a directed verdict. In fact, while not requested at trial

in light of the granted *res ipsa loquitur* instruction, the above facts and circumstances provide a sufficient factual basis for the jury being instructed, pursuant to Florida Standard Jury Instruction 4.11, that Respondents' violation of Florida Statutes §§ 316.520, 316.525, and 316.610, could be considered prima facie evidence of negligence, likewise precluding a directed verdict,

In the case at bar, the evidence is clearly capable of different reasonable inferences and the jury determined, based on the evidence, that Respondents were in fact negligent. As succinctly held by the Second District in *Reed* v. *Bowen*, 503 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986),

"(a) motion for directed verdict should not be granted unless the court concludes that the evidence and all inferences of fact, construed most strictly in favor of the nonmoving party, cannot support in the minds of the jurors any reasonable difference as to any material fact or inference. The fact that circumstantial evidence is relied upon does not alter the rule that it is solely within the province of the jury to evaluate or weigh the evidence,

Id, at 1266 (citations omitted). The Second District's opinion that the trial court erred by denying Respondents' Motion for Directed Verdict on the issue of negligence is clearly contrary to and conflicting with the long line of directed verdict cases of this and the District Courts of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

In order to fulfill the spirit and purpose of Article V, §III(b)(3), Florida Constitution, and

Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(IV), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, of providing for the uniformity of the laws of the State of Florida as announced by this and the District Courts, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in order to reconcile the above-noted contradictory opinions.